
www.lichfielddc.gov.uk /lichfielddc lichfield_dc MyStaffs App

Your ref
Our ref   
Ask for Wendy Johnson

Email wendy.johnson@lichfielddc.gov.uk

District Council House, Frog Lane
Lichfield, Staffordshire WS136YU

Customer Services 01543 308000
Direct Line 01543308075

20 June 2019
Dear Sir/Madam

PLANNING COMMITTEE

A meeting of the Planning Committee has been arranged to take place MONDAY, 1ST 
JULY, 2019 at 6.00 PM IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, District Council House, Lichfield to 
consider the following business.

Access to the Council Chamber is via the Members’ Entrance.

Yours faithfully

Neil Turner BSc (Hons) MSc
Director of Transformation & Resources

To: Members of Planning Committee

Councillors Marshall (Chairman), Baker (Vice-Chair), Anketell, Barnett, Birch, Brown, 
Checkland, Cox, Eagland, Evans, Ho, Humphreys, Leytham, Matthews and Tapper

Public Document Pack



www.lichfielddc.gov.uk /lichfielddc lichfield_dc MyStaffs App

AGENDA
1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting 3 - 4

4. Planning Applications 5 - 28

5. Issues Paper - Application ref 19/00753/OUTMEI - Rugeley 
Power Station, Armitage Road, Armitage, Rugeley 

29 - 36



PLANNING COMMITTEE

3 JUNE 2019

PRESENT:

Councillors Marshall (Chairman), Baker (Vice-Chair), Barnett, Birch, Brown, Checkland, Cox, 
Eagland, Evans, Humphreys, Leytham and Matthews

52 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies were received from Councillor Ho.

53 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

The Chairman, Councillor Marshall, declared a personal interest in application no. 
18/01741/FULM as applicant is known to him.

54 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

The Minutes of the Meeting held on 29 April 2019 previously circulated were taken as read, 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

55 PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

Applications for permission for development were considered with the recommendations of the 
Director of Place and Community and any letters of representation and petitions of 
observations/representations together with a supplementary report of 
observations/representations received since the publication of the agenda in association with 
Planning Application 18/01741/FULM

18/01741/FULM – Erection of a poultry growing and rearing unit including silos and all 
associated works
Dunnimere Farm, Portway Lane, Harlaston, Tamworth, Staffordshire.  B79 9LA
For: RM and DC Calcott

RESOLVED: That planning permission be approved subject to the conditions in 
the report of the Director of Place and Community.

(Prior to consideration of the application, representations were made by Ms Emily Weston, 
Fisher German LLP (Objector), Mr V Lane (Objector) and Mr R Corbett, Roger Parry & 
Partners (Applicant’s Agent))

56 EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

RESOLVED: That, as publicity would be prejudicial to public interest by reason 
of the confidential nature of the business to be transacted the public and press 
be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business which would 
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended.

IN PRIVATE

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



57 ENFORCEMENT MATTERS - UPDATE REPORT 

Consideration was given to the Enforcement Matters – Update Report.  A request was 
received to re-open a case which had been closed and the Chairman agreed to discuss this 
with the Planning Enforcement Team.

(The Meeting closed at 7.15 pm)

CHAIRMAN

Page 4



 

 Planning Committee 
 

       1 July 2019 
 

       Agenda Item 4 
 

       Contact Officer: Claire Billings 
 

Telephone: 01543 308171 

 
Report of the Director of Place and Community 

 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT, 1985 
 

All documents and correspondence referred to within the report as History, Consultations and 
Letters of Representation, those items listed as ‘OTHER BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS’ together with 
the application itself comprise background papers for the purposes of the Local Government (Access 
to Information) Act, 1985. 
 
Other consultations and representations related to items on the Agenda which are received after its 
compilation (and received up to 5 p.m. on the Friday preceding the meeting) will be included in a 
Supplementary Report to be available at the Committee meeting.  Any items received on the day of 
the meeting will be brought to the Committee’s attention. These will also be background papers for 
the purposes of the Act. 
 

 
FORMAT OF REPORT 
 
Please note that in the reports which follow 
 
1 ‘Planning Policy’ referred to are the most directly relevant Development Plan Policies in each 

case. The Development Plan comprises the Lichfield District Local Plan Strategy (2015), saved 
policies of the Lichfield District Local Plan (1998) as contained in Appendix J of the Lichfield 
District Local Plan Strategy (2015) and an adopted Neighbourhood Plan for the relevant area. 

 
2 The responses of Parish/Town/City Councils consultees, neighbours etc. are summarised to 

highlight the key issues raised.  Full responses are available on the relevant file and can be 
inspected on request. 

 
3 Planning histories of the sites in question quote only items of relevance to the application in 

hand.          
 
ITEM ‘A’ Applications for determination by Committee - FULL REPORT  (Gold Sheets) 
 
ITEM ‘B’ Lichfield District Council applications, applications on Council owned land (if any) 

and any items submitted by Members or Officers of the Council. (Gold Sheets) 
 
ITEM ‘C’ Applications for determination by the County Council on which observations are 

required (if any); consultations received from neighbouring Local Authorities on 
which observations are required (if any); and/or consultations submitted in relation 
to Crown applications in accordance with the Planning Practice Guidance on which 
observations are required (if any). (Gold Sheets) 

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 4 
 

ITEM A 
 

APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION BY COMMITTEE:  FULL REPORT 
 

1 July 2019 
 

CONTENTS 
 

Case No. Site Address Parish/Town Council 

 
19/00550/FUL 

 
Little Aston Park Little Aston 

 

 
Shenstone 

 
19/00584/FUL 

 

 
Hawkesyard Estate Armitage Lane Armitage  

 
Armitage With Handsacre 

 
 
 

Page 6



Bo
ro 

Co
ns

t B
dy

Me
t D

ist
 B

dy

Cardueli s

Endwood Lodge

Roman Way

CR

Wentworth

His tons

Patte rda le Hous e

2

JE
RV

IS 
PA

RK

1

6

55

62

The Le ys

Melc herie

Bee ch House

Silve rwood

Hami lton

Longfie ld

PA RK DRIVE

Trees

Greenway s

Way S ide

2

Woodlands

Croft

69

ENDWOOD DRIVE

Pendowe r

LONGACRES

67

Al-Andalus

Evisa

Gandri a

Russ ets

Roman Croft

SELWYN WALK

59

The Bunga low

1

86

LB

98

DRIVE

94

100

CHER RYWOOD WAY

2

14

66

106

71

151.5m

108

WOODSTOCK

112

17

Suk hma ni 82

61

Endwood

153.9m

Melbury

Berry fi eld

Bee chwood

1

5

La tchford House

4

Lodge

Gaydon

Jeron

Fa rthings

Walcote

Mea dow

84

La vender Hous e

PA RK DRIVE

102

74

TH
E B

EE
CH

ES2

1

3

4

150.0m

Park House

RO
SE

MA
RY

 H
ILL

 R
OA

D

79

152.1m

114
119

LONGFIELD DRIVE

1

Amberle y

96

113

Tangl ewood

110

Sunningda le

Georgi an House

Oake n House

5

1

Madingley

El Sub Sta

23

102a

20

Co
 Co

ns
t B

dy

57

86

134d

134c

67a

67

18

142

134a

89

196a

196

JERVIS CR ESCENT

134b

136

65

152.4m

210

213

WALSALL ROAD

80

TA
LL

 TR
EE

S C
L

214

126

128

3

7

1

132

225

El Sub Sta

Rosemary Court
14

8

202

132a

15

5

4

3

HORN TON CLOSE

1

89

150

107

152

144

153.9m

Pond

Hornton Man or

Lodge

5

House
Fairfield

Lymore

Kee pers

The Bramble s

Chimneys

5

Silve r

Ede n Wood

The W hite  House

Kee pers Croft

Cottage

Brookfield
Broom

Gwynfa

House147.8m

Woodside

Glenaston

KEEPERS ROA D

Silve rwood

Birc he s

1

Rosewood Close

2

BEECHWOOD CROFT

1

90
94

WALSALL ROAD

Sub  Sta

7

Barrow

El

D i s t r i c t  C o u n c i l  H o u s e
F r o g  L a n e
L i c h f i e l d

S t a f f s  
W S 1 3  6 Y Y

T e l e p h o n e :  0 1 5 4 3  3 0 8 0 0 0
e n q u i r i e s @ l i c h f i e l d d c . g o v . u k

© Crown Copyright
Database Rights 2015

Lichfield District Council
Licence No: 100017765

Scale:

Drawn By:

Dated:

:Drawing No:

July 20191:3,000LOCATION PLAN
19/00550/FUL

Little Aston Park
Little Aston

Sutton Coldfield

Page 7



Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



 

19/00550/FUL 
 
ERECTION OF 3 SETS OF SECURITY GATES, CCTV AND ASSOCIATED FACILITIES (JUNCTIONS OF 
KEEPERS ROAD WITH WALSALL ROAD, ENDWOOD DRIVE WITH ROSEMARY HILL ROAD AND PARK 
DRIVE WITH ROSEMARY HILL ROAD) 
LITTLE ASTON PARK, LITTLE ASTON, SUTTON COLDFIELD, STAFFORDSHIRE 
FOR LAPRA LTD 
 
Registered 25/04/2019 
 
Parish: Shenstone 
 
Note: This application is being reported to the Planning Committee as it has deemed appropriate to 
do so by the Planning Development Manager and a Principal Planning Officer, due to the significant 
number of representations received from local residents. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: REFUSE, for the following reason: 
 
1. The proposed development, by reason of the lack of any vehicular turning facilities, has the 

potential to result in vehicles reversing onto busy public highways. This would create a 
hazardous situation which would be to the detriment of highway safety. The development 
would therefore be contrary to Core Policy 5 of the Lichfield Local Plan Strategy and guidance 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 

 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Planning Policy 
National Planning Policy Framework 
National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
Lichfield District Council Local Plan Strategy 2008 - 2029 
Core Policy 1 - The Spatial Strategy 
Core Policy 2 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Core Policy 3 - Delivering Sustainable Development 
Core Policy 5 – Sustainable Transport  
Core Policy 10 - Healthy & Safe Lifestyles 
Core Policy 13 – Our Natural Resources 
Core Policy 14 – Our Built & Historic Environment 
Policy ST1 – Sustainable Travel 
Policy BE1 - High Quality Development 
Policy NR3 - Biodiversity, Protected Species & their Habitats 
Policy NR4 - Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows 
Policy NR5 - Natural & Historic Landscapes 
Policy NR7 – Cannock Chase Special Area of Conservation 
Policy Rural 1 – Rural Areas 
Policy Rural 2 – Other Rural Settlements 
 
Lichfield District Local Plan 1998 (saved policies) 
Policy C2 – Conservation Areas 
Policy SA6 – Little Aston Park 
 
Emerging Lichfield District Council Local Plan Allocations Document 2008 - 2029 
Policy BE2 – Heritage Assets (Emerging) 
 
 

Page 11



 

Little Aston Neighbourhood Plan (2016) 
Policy LAP1 – Density of Development in Little Aston Park 
Policy MOV3 – Provision of Pedestrian Safety Improvements 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
Sustainable Design  
Trees, Landscaping and Development 
Historic Environment 
 
Other Documents 
Little Aston Conservation Area Appraisal (2011)  
Little Aston Conservation Area Management Plan (2011) 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
N/A 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Shenstone Parish Council - No comments received.   
 
Conservation Team LDC - There are no conservation objections to the principle of the installation of 
the gates or their design, there will need to be additional information provided regarding the 
additional facilities required. Details of the reader pedestals have been submitted, however numerous 
options have been shown. Details of the exact location and design, along with their proposed finish 
will be needed. The colour of the gates and associated equipment will need to be unified in order to 
add to the sense of the parkland estate. The design and finish will have an impact upon the 
surroundings and therefore details will be needed prior to determination.  (16.05.19) 
 
Tree Officer LDC - The supplied tree report is acceptable, if minded to approve this application then a 
condition relating to the tree protection plan needs to be applied. (09.05.19) 
 
Staffordshire County Council (Highways) - Further Comments – Recommend refusal. The proposed 
scheme would create a hazard to users of the public highway (12.06.19) 
 
Initial Comments – The location of the proposed gates and carriageway width at Park Drive and 
Endwood Drive would necessitate vehicles refused entry or having entered by mistake needing to 
reverse on to the B4138 Rosemary Hill Road. There is insufficient information for the highway 
authority to determine an outcome to the application for the following reasons: 

a) The submitted application doesn’t include data on the number of vehicles which would enter 
the gates from Rosemary Hill Road or the A454 Walsall Road. 

b) The submitted application fails to demonstrate that vehicles refused entry at the Walsall 
Road/Keepers Drive gate would be able to manoeuvre and enter the Walsall Road facing 
forwards (15.05.19) 

 
Fire Safety Team - No comments received.  
 
West Midlands Ambulance Service - No comments received.  
 
Architectural Liaison Officer - No objections to these proposals. If this application progresses, 
provision of CCTV requirements and automated gate guidance and recommendations can be 
provided. (07.06.19) 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



 

Birmingham City Council -  Object to the proposal on the following points; 
 

 The provision of access gates would impede access on the roads in questions and likely 
adversely impact upon highway safety in terms of free flow of vehicular traffic, waiting of 
vehicles and unauthorised manoeuvres should entry not be provided. 
 

 The provision of access gates will result in the creation of a gated community which 
undermines community integration/cohesion and goes against open access and positive 
planning and place making for all. 

 

 How will emergency vehicles gain access? Whatever mechanism that is used for access for 
emergency vehicles it is likely that some delay will occur. (21.05.19) 

 
OTHER BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Planning Statement 
Camera Equipment Supporting Information 
Ancillary Equipment Supporting Information 
Transport Survey (submitted 16/05/19) 
 
 

LETTERS OF REPRESENTATION 
 
123 letters of representation have been received in respect of this application. The comments made 
are summarised below: 
 
Object (68 comments): 
 

 The proposal will cause chaos at each entrance; 

 There will be tailbacks onto the roads; 

 Gates won’t stop people entering; 

 Right to access will be removed; 

 The roads are private and maintained at private expense; 

 Lack of consultation from management company; 

 Cars will be forced to reverse on main roads; 

 Emergency vehicles will be impeded; 

 Gated communities are socially divisive; 

 The level of crime is not as described; 

 No evidence of pedestrian safety is at risk; 

 We have legal access at all times which will stop; 

 Gates will make it more difficult to access properties; 

 Physical look on the street scene will be bad; 

 Not enough space at each entrance to turn around; 

 Tree protection is to be close to our own entrance; 

 Gates appear to be crossing our boundary; 

 Precedent for gated entrances will be set; 

 Our management company have not informed us; 

 Are these gates compliant with legislation; 

 Detrimental traffic congestion; 

 Access to church & golf club will be impinged; 

 Creating fear is unfair; 

 How will delivery drivers access; 

 Undermines community ethos. 
 
 
 

Page 13



 

Support (55 comments): 
 

 The gates will enhance safety; 

 This will reduce traffic and speed along this private estate; 

 The gates will reduce crime in the area; 

 They will block undesirable access to area; 

 There are other gated communities in close proximity (Four Oaks Estate); 

 Safer for pedestrians and cyclists; 

 Many properties are already gated within the park; 

 There is no right of way across this private land; 

 Crime will continue to increase without gates; 

 Too many open accesses to the estate; 

 Too many residents being targeted daily; 

 Technology is advanced so this is a viable solution; 

 Traffic will be forced to slow down; 

 Volume of traffic will be reduced; 

 Peace of mind for all residents; 

 Traffic control will be better; 

 Too many comments made from people outside the park. 
 

 
OBSERVATIONS 
 
Site and Location 
 
The application site is located within the settlement of Little Aston as defined by the Local Plan Policies 
Map. The application relates to three sites located on three private access roads into Little Aston Park, 
Little Aston, which is a private estate managed by LAPRA Ltd (Little Aston Park Residents Association). 
The entire park, including the application sites, lie within the Little Aston Conservation Area. The 
surrounding area is predominantly residential, and is characterised by primarily large detached 
dwellings sited within large residential curtilages.  
 
The first site relates to land at Keepers Road which is located to the north of the park and joins onto 
the public highway at Walsall Road, Little Aston. The road is adjoined by a narrow grass verge and 
mature hedgerows and trees. The trees on the northern side of Keepers Road, which lie adjacent to 
Walsall Road, are covered by a TPO.  The second site relates to land at Park Drive located to the east 
of the park and joins onto Rosemary Hill Road. The road is adjoined by a narrow grass verge and 
mature hedgerows and trees. The third site relates to land at Endwood Drive which also joins 
Rosemary Hill Road to the east. The road is adjoined by a grass verges, driveway access points and 
mature hedgerows and trees. The trees on the southern side of Endwood Road, which are adjacent to 
Rosemary Hill Road are covered by TPO. Rosemary Hill Road is under shared ownership with the 
northbound carriageway owned by Staffordshire County Council and the southbound carriageway 
owned by Birmingham City Council.   
 
All of the sites serve as main access points to the estate and, there is signage on each access point 
stating that they are private roads. The estate’s roads are tarmacked and have traffic calming 
measures in place and the estate roads do not have designated pedestrian footpaths. 
 
Proposals 
 
This application seeks permission for the erection of 3 sets of security gates, CCTV and associated 
facilities at the junctions of Keepers Road with Walsall Road, Endwood Drive with Rosemary Hill Road 
and Park Drive with Rosemary Hill Road. The gates would operate automatically with a key fob for 
entry and exit. It is also proposed to operate a code system as another method of access. 
 
 

Page 14



 

Keepers Road 
 
The gates would be set back 17 metres from the public highway at Walsall Road. The gates would 
measure 2.1m in height; the gate posts 1.65m and the two pedestrian gates either side would measure 
1.83m in height. The entire gate structure would have a total width of 7.3m. The gates would be 
fabricated from metal railings. 1m high railings are also proposed, for a distance of 4.7m, to separate 
pedestrians from vehicles, are also proposed. The scheme also includes the installation of ancillary 
infrastructure including an intercom post either side of the gate, and a CCTV post.  
 
Park Drive 
 
The gates would be set back 17 metres from the edge of the public highway at Rosemary Hill Road. 
The gates would measure 2.1m in height; the gate posts 1.65m and the pedestrian gate would 
measure 1.83m. The entire gate structure would have a total width of 5.9m. The gates would be 
fabricated from metal railings. 1m high railings are also proposed, for a distance of 4.7m, to separate 
pedestrians from vehicles, are also proposed. The scheme also includes the installation of ancillary 
infrastructure including an intercom post either side of the gate, and a CCTV post.  
 
Endwood Drive 
 
The gates would be set back 12 metres from the public highway at Rosemary Hill Road. The gates 
would measure 2.1m in height; the gate posts 1.65m and the pedestrian gate would measure 1.83m. 
The entire gate structure would have a total width of 5.9m. The gates would be fabricated from metal 
railings. 1m high railings are also proposed, for a distance of 4.7m, to separate pedestrians from 
vehicles, are also proposed. The scheme also includes the installation of ancillary infrastructure 
including an intercom post either side of the gate, and a CCTV post. 
 
Determining Issues  
 

1. Policy & Principle of Development   
2. Design including Impact upon the Character and Appearance of Heritage Assets 
3. Residential Amenity 
4.  Access and Highway Safety 
5. Impact on Trees  
6. Human Rights 

 
1. Principle of Development 
 
1.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) sets out that the 

determination of applications must be made in accordance with the development plan, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan for Lichfield District 
comprises the Lichfield District Local Plan (1998) (saved policies) and the Local Plan Strategy 
2008-2019, and the adopted (made) Little Aston Neighbourhood Plan (2016). 

 
1.2 The application proposes the installation of security gates and associated infrastructure to be 

provided across three access roads into the Little Aston Park estate. The application site lies 
within the settlement of Little Aston, as defined by the Local Plan Policies Map within a 
predominantly residential area.  There are no specific policies which relate to the application 
proposals, however Policy Rural 1: Rural Areas of the Local Plan Strategy, states that 
improvements to social, community and environmental infrastructure will be supported 
where these address the needs of the village and are sustainably located, and do not conflict 
with other Core Policies. The principle of the development is considered to be acceptable 
provided there is no adverse harm arising from the development. Therefore, the main 
considerations in this instance are the impact of the development on the Little Aston 
Conservation Area; the impact upon protected trees and hedgerows; the impact on highway 
safety; and the impact upon residential amenity. These issues are discussed below. 

 

Page 15



 

2. Design including Impact upon the Character and Appearance of Heritage Assets 
 
Impact on the Streetscene and Conservation Area 
 
2.1 The application proposals relate to the construction of three sets of access gates and 

associated infrastructure. All three sites are located within the Little Aston Conservation Area, 
which is a designated heritage asset. A key consideration is therefore the impact of the 
development on the character and appearance of the area, including heritage assets.  

 
2.2 Core Policy 3 of the Local Plan Strategy states that development proposals should protect and 

enhance the character and distinctiveness of Lichfield District and its settlements, while 
development should be of a scale and nature appropriate to its locality, and seek to conserve, 
enhance and expand natural built and heritage assets and improve our understanding of them 
wherever possible.  
 

2.3 Core Policy 14 states that the District Council will protect and improve the built environment 
and have special regard to the conservation and enhancement of the historic environment 
through positive action. Core Policy 14 confirms that the significance of conservation areas 
and their setting will be conserved and enhanced and given the highest level of protection. 
 

2.4 Policy BE1 states that development will be permitted where it can be clearly and convincingly 
demonstrated that it will have a positive impact on the significance of the historic 
environment, including conservation areas, and that new development should carefully 
respect the character of the surrounding area. New development should have a positive 
impact on the public realm and ensure high quality, inclusive design. Emerging Policy BE.2 of 
the Local Plan Allocations Document, relates to heritage assets, and confirms that 
development proposals which conserve and enhance our historic environment will be 
supported where development does not result in harm to the significance of the heritage asset 
or their setting. Saved Policy C2 states development will be permitted where it enhances or 
preserves the character of the Conservation Area, and states that development will not be 
permitted where the development would prejudice the essential features of the Conservation 
Area.  

 
2.5 Lichfield District Local Plan 1998, saved Policy SA.6, relates specifically to Little Aston Park, and 

states that the special character of Little Aston Park is determined by the extensive mature 
tree cover and low density and individual design of dwellings. Policy SA.6 confirms that new 
development will only be allowed where the special character of the area is protected by the 
retention of existing vegetation and provision of an arcadian setting for new and existing 
dwellings.  Little Aston Neighbourhood Plan Policy LAP1 also reaffirms the special character of 
Little Aston Park and that development will only be allowed where the special character of the 
area is protected. The Little Aston Conservation Area Appraisal identifies that various closes 
and cul-de-sacs are gated off which further increases the privacy of plots and gated 
communities within Little Aston. The Appraisal also identifies that permanently opened metal 
gates are positioned at the entry into the areas lanes from the surrounding main roads, which 
conveys a sense of private parklands, going on to state that these entries also help to restrict 
traffic movement through the area and it is a characteristic of the area that there is very little 
traffic.  

 
2.6 The application proposes the erection of three sets of gates to be sited on three of the entry 

roads into the area from the main public highways. The gates would be over 2m tall in each 
instance and permanently closed. As set out above, a characteristic of the estate is the 
presence of gates, at entry points into the park; on individual cul-de-sacs; or on private 
driveways. The existing gates at either end of Roman Road are permanently open and have a 
design and colour finish which is different to the design of those proposed. Notwithstanding 
this, those existing gates are sited much closer to the adjacent public highways and as such 
are more prominently positioned than those which are the subject of this application.  

 

Page 16



 

2.7 The construction of gates in the locations proposed, are considered to be acceptable in this 
Conservation Area, as they a consistent feature of the area. The proposed metal fabrication, 
along with their design and black finish would be appropriate. Furthermore, their siting away 
from the public highway, set back by between 14m and 17m would mean that they would not 
appear unduly prominent or incongruous from users of the highway.  

 
2.8 Notwithstanding the above, the scheme also includes ancillary elements of infrastructure 

including intercom posts, CCTV posts and electrical cabinets. These elements of ancillary 
infrastructure have the potential to affect the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area. The submission does not include exact details of these elements. Numerous designs for 
the pedestal reader have been provided, while the colour detailed in the plans and 
manufacturers brochures is red (which would be unacceptable).  No details of the height of 
the CCTV posts have been provided while no details of the electrical cabinet are detailed. The 
precise details of the location, design and colour finish of these ancillary elements could 
however be secured via condition.  

 
2.9 The extensive mature tree cover gives Little Aston Park its special character and represents a 

high quality environment. Therefore, it is considered important that extensive tree cover 
remains throughout the park to ensure that the existing character and appearance of the area 
is retained, in particular the trees from local and more distant viewpoints. A tree survey and 
tree protection plan have been provided which identify that the trees adjacent to each 
entrance will not be adversely affected through construction of the proposed gates. 
Therefore, it is considered that the installation of the gates would not harm the extensive tree 
cover around each entrance and the views in and out of the roads would be maintained.  

 
2.10 In light of the above, it is considered that the proposed development would not harm 

elements which contribute towards the significance of the Conservation Area.  It is therefore 
considered that the proposed development would not have an adverse impact on the 
character and appearance of the streetscene or wider area. In terms of impact on heritage 
assets, it is considered the proposals are compliant with saved Policies C2 and SA.6 of the 
Lichfield District Local Plan 1998; Core Policy 3, Core Policy 14 and BE1 of the Local Plan 
Strategy; LAP1 of the Little Aston Neighbourhood Plan; and BE2 of the emerging Allocations 
Document.   

 
Community Cohesion 
 
2.11 Core Policy 1 states that appropriate proposals which contribute to their improved 

sustainability, cohesion and community wellbeing will be supported. Core Policy 3 states that 
development proposals should promote social cohesion and inclusion, and reduce 
inequalities. The NPPF at paragraph 91 states that decisions should aim to achieve healthy, 
inclusive and safe places which are, inter alia, safe and accessible so that crime and disorder, 
and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion. While 
paragraph 127 (f) reiterates this goal.  

 
2.12 Notwithstanding the existing signage, which highlight that the estate roads are private, the 

existing environment is an attractive, inclusive and welcoming place to visit. The scheme 
proposes the introduction of three gates across the access roads which could result in the 
perception of the estate turning its back on the wider community within which it is sited. This 
would segregate the community and social interaction and therefore be against the thrust of 
community cohesion, which is an aspect of achieving high quality design, as set out in the 
Development Plan and NPPF.  

 
2.13 It is noted that other entrances into the estate at Roman Road would remain open (at present) 

which consequently ensures that an element of social cohesion within the wider community 
is retained, while the presence of gates, including gated cul-de-sacs are characteristic of the 
wider estate. Furthermore, it is acknowledged that community safety, crime and the fear of 
crime are to be weighed in the balance, and the proposed development would provide some 

Page 17



 

benefits in this respect. On balance, it is considered that the proposed development would be 
acceptable in terms of social and community cohesion.  

 
3. Residential Amenity  
 
3.1 It is necessary to consider any potential impacts of the development on the amenities of 

existing nearby residents.  The NPPF emphasises that planning should seek a good standard 
of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings and Local Plan Strategy 
Policy BE1 seeks to protect amenity by avoiding development which causes disturbance 
through unreasonable traffic generation, noise, light, dust, fumes or other disturbance. 

 
3.2 The proposed gates, in all instances, would be sited adjacent to the residential curtilages of 

dwellings which are located either side of the access roads. The access roads are currently 
used by vehicles accessing the properties within the park. However, the presence of the gates 
would mean that vehicles would come to a standstill while gaining entry/exit. Consequently, 
there would be a change in activity occurring adjacent to these properties including vehicular 
engines in idle while waiting, the noise/mechanics of the gates, and interaction with the 
pedestals. While a change in activity would arise, and possibly be noticeable to the residents 
adjacent to the gates, it is not considered that the scale and frequency of the activity would 
be so significant to cause undue harm to the amenity of neighbouring properties through 
noise and disturbance.  

 
3.3 With regard to the impact from the operational development, it is not considered that the 

presence of the gates and ancillary infrastructure would cause harm to the amenity of 
neighbouring properties through overbearing, overshadowing or any other way. The impact 
upon residential amenity is not considered to be significant and therefore a good standard of 
amenity would be retained in accordance with the Development Plan and NPPF.  

 
4. Access and Highway Safety 
 
4.1 The NPPF at paragraph 108 requires that in considering specific applications, safe and suitable 

access to the site can be achieved for all users. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that 
development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety. Core Policy 5 of the Local Plan Strategy states that 
development proposals should make appropriate provision for improving road safety.  

 
4.2 The scheme proposes the gating-off of three private access roads into the Little Aston Park 

Estate therefore, the impact of the development on highway safety is of importance.  As a 
consequence of the development vehicles would no longer be able to enter the estate from 
these roads unless authorised to do so i.e. for residents of the estate, visitors, emergency 
vehicles and deliveries etc. Given the nature of the proposals it is necessary to consider 
whether the development would result in a backing up onto the public highway, which would 
be detrimental to highway safety. The application has been supported by a traffic survey to 
demonstrate the amount of vehicular movements which occur at the site. The survey was 
conducted for a single hour between 08:00am and 09:00am on Tuesday 14 May 2019. The 
survey identifies a total of 18 vehicular movements at the Endwood Drive access (9 in and 9 
out); 29 vehicular movements at Park Drive access (11 in and 18 out); and 31 vehicular 
movements a Keepers Road (14 in and 17 out).  The survey concludes that the movements at 
these access points are light and that no more than a single vehicle left or entered Little Aston 
Park at the same time. While the findings of the traffic survey are noted, it is not considered 
that a traffic survey of a single hour on one given day can be relied upon as being truly 
reflective of the movements which occurs from these points of access. A more detailed survey 
across a week would be more representative of how the highway network operates.  

 
4.3 The position of the gates from the public highway is sufficient to ensure that at least two 

vehicles can pull off and be clear from the highway. Based on the vehicular movement figures 
which have been presented, it is understood that movements are relatively light (between 8 

Page 18



 

and 9am on a Tuesday), and therefore it is unlikely that vehicles entering the site would back 
up onto the public highway, although no specific details has been provided in terms of how 
long it would take for a vehicle to enter the estate. The set back from the public highway is 
sufficient to enable larger vehicles to also pull clear from the highway including service 
vehicles and emergency vehicles. Consultation has been carried out with the emergency 
services, however no response has been received to establish their view on the proposals. 
Notwithstanding this, it is understood that such vehicles would have access to the estate 
where responding to an emergency.  

 
4.4 While it is likely that there would not be a knock-on effect on the public highway(s) as a result 

of queueing vehicles entering the estate, there is concern with regard to vehicles which are 
denied entry or have turned into the road as a genuine mistake.  There are no turning facilities 
provided between the public highway and the proposed gates. Due to the lack of any proposed 
turning facility, and the narrow width of the access roads (which limits the capability for 
manoeuvre), any vehicle which is denied entry into the park, or who have turned into the road 
by mistake, would have no option but to reverse onto the busy public highways. This would 
clearly be a hazardous arrangement resulting in a dangerous manoeuvre which would be to 
the detriment of highway safety. This is furthermore the view of Staffordshire County Council, 
who are the highway authority for the area, as they recommend refusal of the application on 
such grounds. 

 
4.5 Consideration has been given to whether a condition could be attached to an approval which 

would overcome the concerns with regard to highway safety. A condition has been suggested 
for the submission of a detailed traffic management plan for the operation of the gates to 
cover how they would operate for different users and in different scenarios. While it is 
accepted that this would provide greater detail over how the gates would operate, there 
would be concern over the management and monitoring of this, it is considered that such a 
condition would not be enforceable. Furthermore, it would not overcome the issues of driver 
errors of entering the road which may occur as set out above. 

 
4.6 It is the applicants’ agents’ stance that these roads are private roads, and that only those who 

have a lawful right or reason to be turning into these roads should be doing so. Therefore, 
they consider that the applicants should not be penalised for those who are unlawfully 
manoeuvring into the roads. While these comments are noted, it is considered that such 
errors will inevitably occur given the nature of the roads and that such instances cannot be 
simply be disregarded from consideration. 

 
4.7 Furthermore, the applicants’ agent considers that the situation is comparable to the gating of 

a single access drive. The LPA disagree that they are directly comparable given that application 
sites relate to roads, which serve a large number of properties, and have the 
presence/appearance of roads.  Therefore, the likelihood of mistakenly using the roads is 
much more likely compared to an individual properties driveway.  It has also been suggested 
that more prominent signage could be carried out at the site entrances. As this is a 
conservation area, with protected trees in close proximity, and also a predominantly 
residential area, the LPA would not wish to be encouraging the introduction of prominent 
signage at these points of access. 

 
4.8 In conclusion, it is considered that the proposed development would have an unacceptable 

impact on highway safety due to the increased potential for vehicles to reverse onto busy 
public highways. The LPA has explored other options to address the concerns, however it has 
been concluded, based on the information available, that this impact could be mitigated. The 
proposals would be contrary to Core Policy 5 of the Local Plan Strategy and the guidance 
contained within paragraphs 108 and 109 of the NPPF.  

 
 
 
 

Page 19



 

5. Impact on Trees  
 
5.1 Policy NR4 of the Local Plan Strategy acknowledges that trees, woodland and hedgerows are 

important visual and ecological assets in our towns and that such features should be protected 
from damage and retained, unless it can be demonstrated that removal is necessary and 
appropriate mitigation can be achieved. In this instance, as set out above, the existing 
vegetation contributes to the significance of the character of the Conservation Area, and is an 
important feature.  

 
5.2 There are TPO trees located adjacent to of the accesses, while other significant trees are 

protected by virtue of the application site being located within the Conservation Area. There 
are also existing hedgerows adjacent to the access which also contribute towards the verdant 
character of the area.   

 
5.3 The proposed installations would be sited adjacent to these important landscape features. 

The application has been supported by appropriate tree surveys and arboriculture impact 
assessments. The submitted information demonstrates that the development can be carried 
out without having a detrimental impact on these assets. The submission has been reviewed 
by the LPA’s Tree Officer who has concurred with the findings of the reports and have raised 
no objection, subject to the imposition of a condition relating to tree protection measures.  As 
such it is concluded that the proposal complies with Policy NR4 of the Local Plan Strategy in 
this regard.  

 
6. Human Rights 
 
6.1 The proposals set out in the report are considered to be compatible with the Human Rights 

Act 1998. The proposals may interfere with an individual’s rights under Article 8 of Schedule 
1 to the Human Rights Act, which provides that everyone has the right to respect for their 
private and family life, home and correspondence. Interference with this right can only be 
justified if it is in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic society. The 
potential interference here has been fully considered within the report in having regard to the 
representations received and, on balance, is justified and proportionate in relation to the 
provisions of the policies of the development plan and national planning policy.  

 
Conclusion 
 
The proposed development would not have a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of 
the Little Aston Conservation Area, including trees which are an identified asset of note that contribute 
towards the significance of the heritage asset. While there is some concern with regard to the 
development undermining social cohesion, for the reasons set out above, it is considered that the 
development is acceptable in this respect, on balance.  
 
However, there is significant concern with regard to the impact that the development would have on 
highway safety arising from vehicles being required to reverse onto busy public highways. The 
development would therefore be contrary to Core Policy 5 of the Local Plan Strategy and the guidance 
contained within paragraphs 108 and 109 of the NPPF which seeks to resist development which would 
have an impact on highway safety. Therefore, for the reasons set out above, the application is 
recommended for refusal.   
  
 

Page 20



Pond

Towing Path

Cottage

Cottage

Yard
Grave

Gulson

LA
NE

Fn

North
Lodge

West Lodge

16

77

9

80

1

67

58

18

8

16

1

MIDDLE CROFT

74

10

23

37

17

27

El Sub Sta

24

20

14

PRIORY AVENUE

22

23

11

19

1

7

1

10

2 to
 18

30

ESS

7

11

24

Drain

FB

Gulson

Outfall

House

Ash Tree Inn

Trent and Mersey Canal

RUGELEY ROAD

AR
MI

TA
GE

72.5m

Gardeners

HORSELE
Y CROFT

Park Farm

ST THOMAS WAY

ST JOHNS DRIVE

2

FB

Play AreaSewage
Pumping Station

85

14

2

1

97

2

Posts

88

86

7

136

110

76

104

57

42

BOOTH
 HURST R

OAD

2

10
2

7

Drain

45

55

29

9

19

15 11

56

40

22

18

2

ST
 C

HA
DS

 C
LO

SE

1

THE CLOISTERS

16

21

2

15

14

15

5

16

1

4

1

Armitage Court

CANON LANE

28

10

21

(PH)

9

Oake
n Hurst

 Aven
ue

MP

30

D i s t r i c t  C o u n c i l  H o u s e
F r o g  L a n e
L i c h f i e l d

S t a f f s  
W S 1 3  6 Y Y

T e l e p h o n e :  0 1 5 4 3  3 0 8 0 0 0
e n q u i r i e s @ l i c h f i e l d d c . g o v . u k

© Crown Copyright
Database Rights 2015

Lichfield District Council
Licence No: 100017765

Scale:

Drawn By:

Dated:

:Drawing No:

July 20191:2,500LOCATION PLAN
19/00584/FUL

Hawkesyard Estate
Armitage Lane

Armitage

Page 21



Page 22



 

19/00584/FUL 
 
REMOVAL OF CONDITION 2 OF PERMISSION 10/00472/FUL RELATING TO REMOVAL OF FENCE  
HAWKESYARD ESTATE, ARMITAGE LANE, ARMITAGE, RUGELEY 
MRS R WHORTON 
Registered 26/04/2019 
 
Parish: Armitage with Handsacre 
 
Note: This application is being reported to the Planning Committee due to significant planning 
objections raised by Armitage with Handsacre Parish Council on the following grounds: 

 Harm to the visual amenity and openness of the Green Belt; 

 Concerns that the fence is higher than 2m; and, 

 Retention of the fence is not accordance with condition No.2 of 10/00472/FUL. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Approve, subject to the following conditions:   
 
ORIGINAL CONDITIONS RE-ISSUED: 
 
1.   The fence hereby approved shall be maintained in a dark green colour for the life of the 

development. 
 
2.    The fence hereby approved shall remain free of any hoardings for the life of the development. 
 
REASONS FOR CONDITIONS: 
 
1.   In order to safeguard the visual amenity and openness of the Green Belt and to accord with 

Local Plan Strategy Policies NR2 and BE1 and the NPPF. 
 
2.   In order to safeguard the visual amenity and openness of the Green Belt and to accord with 

Local Plan Strategy Policies NR2 and BE1 and the NPPF. 
 
NOTES TO APPLICANT 
 
1.    The Development Plan comprises the Lichfield District Local Plan Strategy (2015) and saved 

policies of the Lichfield District Local Plan (1998) as contained in Appendix J of the Lichfield 
District Local Plan Strategy (2015) and the Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan. 

 
2.    The development is considered to be a sustainable form of development which complies with 

the provisions of paragraph 38 of the NPPF. 
 
APPROVED PLAN REF. 
Plan No. WHN/002/01 
 

 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Planning Policy 
National Planning Policy Framework 
National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
Lichfield District Local Plan Strategy  
Core Policy 3 - Delivering Sustainable Development 
Core Policy 14 – Our Built & Historic Environment 
Policy BE1 - High Quality Development 
Policy NR2 – Development in the Green Belt 

Page 23



 

 
Lichfield District Local Plan 1998 (saved policies) 
Policy C2 – Conservation Areas 
 
Armitage wth Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan (2018) 
Policy AH6 - Maintaining the Rural Nature of the Villages 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
Sustainable Design  
Rural Development 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

10/01222/FUL Retention of 2 golf practice shelters    Refused  17/12/2010 

10/00472/FUL Retention of boundary fence Approved     08/06/2010 

09/00943/FUL Retention of boundary fencing    Refused  21/10/2009 

08/00048/FUL Retention of golf buggy shed and compound Approved    11/03/2008 

02/00744/COU Use of land to the left of the golf club approach 
drive for a golf practice area 

Approved     12/08/2002 

 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Armitage with Handsacre Parish Council – Strongly object due to harm to the visual amenity and 
openness of the Green Belt and concerns the fence is higher than 2m. Its retention is not accordance 
with condition No.2.  Note that in 2010 the existence of the fence was only deemed appropriate with 
the on-going use of the neighbouring facility of the golf course. Feel in view of the closure of the golf 
course it is very inappropriate for the fence to remain (21/05/2019). 
 
Armitage with Handsacre Parish Council – Originally raised no objection to this application 
(03/05/2019). 
 
Conservation Team (LDC) – Requested additional justification for the retention of the high metal fence 
given the associated golf practice use has ceased. Notes the fence adjacent to the Trent and Mersey 
Conservation Area is post and rail, and accepts the fall-back position that the application fence could 
be erected under current permitted development rights but would prefer the continuation of post 
and rail fence instead (23/05/2019).  
 
Architectural Liaison Officer – No comments received. 
 
LETTERS OF REPRESENTATION 
 
2 objections have been received from local residents in respect of this application. Their comments 
are summarised below: 
 
• Non-compliance with planning conditions; 
• Other structures on-site without planning permission; 
• Golf course, and practice area now ceased and fence no longer required; 
• Insufficient justification provided for retention of fence; 
• Metal fence out of sympathy with rural environment and local character; 
• Negative impacts on neighbours’ amenity; 
• Poor maintenance of fence;  
• Protruding metal on fence is a danger to others; 
• Granting planning permission would set a dangerous precedent; 
• The Inspector’s stance on the appeal decision for shelters on-site should also apply to the 

fence i.e. their removal and reinstatement of landscape buffer; and 
• Previous Parish Council objection still relevant. 

Page 24



 

 
OTHER BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Planning Statement 
 
 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
Site and Location 
 
The application site is located within the wider the Hawkesyard Estate, off Armitage Lane and is 
located within the Green Belt. The site’s north and east boundaries adjoin the Trent and Mersey Canal 
Conservation Area, but the fence itself is set around 24 metres away from the Conservation Area’s 
south-west boundary. The fence is also set back by over 150 metres from Rugeley Road to the north. 
The remainder of the site boundary to the south east, and adjoining the Conservation Area is lower 
level post and rail.  
 
The application site itself was previously used as a golf practice area in connection with the main golf 
course within the wider site area. The application site is now in agricultural use to graze sheep 
following the cessation of the golf course and practice area. 
 
Proposals 
 
This Section 73 application seeks the removal of condition 2 of planning permission 10/00472/FUL 
relating to the removal of a fence. Condition 2 states: 
 
“2. The fence hereby approved shall be removed from the site within 2 months of the use as a 
practice area ceasing. The land shall thereafter be restored to open grass verge, in accordance with a 
scheme of work to have been previously submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.” 
 
The 2 metre high paladin mesh fence runs along the southern boundary of the site and has been in 
situ since around 2009 and, was approved in 2010 under permission reference 10/00472/FUL. The 
permission tied the fence to the use of the land as a golf practice area and condition 2 currently 
requires the removal of the fencing within two months of the practice area use ceasing. 
 
The submitted supporting statement explains the golf practice area use has ceased, but has not been 
abandoned, and that this application is submitted to retain the fence in its current position through 
the removal of condition 2. 
 
Determining Issues  
 

1. Policy & Principle of Development   
2. Green Belt Impact 
3. Residential Amenity 
4. Permitted Development 
5. Other Issues 
6. Human Rights 

 
1. Policy & Principle of Development 
 
1.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) sets out that the 

determination of applications must be made in accordance with the development plan, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan for Lichfield District 
comprises the Lichfield District Local Plan (1998) (saved policies) and the Local Plan Strategy 
(LPS) 2008-2019, and the adopted (made) Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan 
(2018). 

Page 25



 

 
1.2 LPS Core Policy 3 seeks to ensure sustainable development is brought forward by addressing 

a number of key issues, including minimising any environmental impacts arising. 
 
1.3 Core Policy 14 affirms that the District Council will protect and improve the built environment 

and have special regard to the conservation and enhancement of the historic environment 
through positive action and partnership working. 

 
1.4 Policy NR2 states that development in the Green Belt must retain its character and openness, 

and that inappropriate development should not be approved unless very special 
circumstances exist. 

 
1.5 Policy BE1 states that all development proposals should ensure that a high quality sustainable 

built environment can be achieved. Development will be permitted where it can be clearly and 
convincingly demonstrate that it will have a positive impact on: 

 

 The significance of the historic environment; 

 Reducing carbon emissions; 

 The built vernacular; 

 Public safety, health and reducing inequality; 

 Amenity; 

 The natural environment; 

 Sustainable transport. 
 
1.6 The application fence was originally approved in 2010 under planning permission 

10/00472/FUL and is required by condition No.2 to be removed within two months of the 
associated golf practice area ceasing.  The fence has been in situ for around ten years and the 
submitted supporting statement explains the golf practice area use has since ceased, but has 
not been abandoned. 

 
1.7 The 2010 application is linked to the use of the wider land as a golf practice area permitted 

under planning permission 02/00744/COU.  It is understood that the associated golf club use 
has ceased, but is not necessarily abandoned and this use, and the associated practice area, 
could potentially come back into use at any time.  Due to the specific matters of this 
application considered below, it is not deemed necessary to assess whether the use has 
indeed been abandoned. 

 
1.8 Objectors’ confirm the golf practice area ceased in 2017, and enforcement enquiries were first 

lodged with the Council regarding the fence in November 2018. The fence was therefore in 
situ for up to a year after the associated use of the practice land ceased, and before being 
formally raised as an issue.  

 
1.9 Objectors’ comment on a lack of justification for the retention of the fence.  Whilst it is agreed 

that the paladin fence may not completely prevent trespass given that it does not extend along 
the entire boundary, it is likely to act as a deterrent helping to minimise such access.   

 
1.10 The Parish Council considers that the retention of the fence without the associated golf 

practice use to be very inappropriate. However, whilst the fencing was originally tied 
specifically to the use of the land, on reviewing the fencing in isolation against the current 
adopted Development Plan and NPPF, and as set out further below, it is not considered to 
result in significant additional harm and is therefore acceptable in principle as a stand-alone 
development. 

   
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 

2. Green Belt Impact 
 
2.1 The starting point for development in the Green Belt is Local Plan Strategy Policy NR2 which 

requires development to retain its character and openness, and repeats the Green Belt 
provisions set out within the NPPF.  

 
2.2 Paragraphs 143 and 144 of the NPPF explain that inappropriate development should only be 

approved in exceptional circumstances which outweigh the harm arising. It follows at 
Paragraphs 145 and 146 by setting out forms of development which are acceptable in the 
Green Belt. Whilst the erection of fencing is not explicitly listed under these paragraphs, the 
application fence could be erected under permitted development rights set out within Part 2, 
Class A of the GPDO 2015 (as amended), and this demonstrates the acceptability in principle. 
This is explained further below. 

 
2.3 For these reasons, the fencing is not considered to be ‘inappropriate development’ and the 

proposal does not need to demonstrate ‘very special circumstances’. The Parish Council’s 
objection in regard to harm to the openness and visual amenity of the Green Belt is noted, 
however, the green paladin fencing, due to its mesh design, allows views through the fence 
thereby maintaining open views to and from the site and helps to blend into the overall 
landscape and is not therefore considered to result in significant additional harm.   

 
2.4 Objectors’ comments suggesting the Council adopts the same approach as the Inspector as 

part of their appeal decision for the shelters on-site is noted i.e. removal of the structures on 
cessation of associated use and reinstatement of a landscape buffer. However, the shelters 
are of a more solid construction which may not retain the openness and visual amenity of the 
Green Belt in the same way as the application fencing does. For this reason, and in the view 
of the permitted development fall-back position, it is considered a refusal would not be 
warranted in this instance.  

 
2.5 In summary, it is considered that the retention of the fencing would not result in harm to the 

Green Belt by way of openness, character and appearance, furthermore, the re-issuing of 
conditions 1 and 3 of 10/00472/FUL would ensure the fence is maintained in an acceptable 
green finish and free of hoardings. 

 
3. Residential Amenity  
 
3.1 It is necessary to consider any potential impacts of the development on the amenities of 

existing nearby residents.  The NPPF emphasises that planning should seek a good standard 
of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings and Local Plan Strategy 
Policy BE1 seeks to protect amenity by avoiding development which causes disturbance 
through unreasonable traffic generation, noise, light, dust, fumes or other disturbance. 

 
3.2 The fence has been in situ for around 10 years and when combined with its open mesh design, 

and green finish, the fence is considered to blend into the overall landscape and its retention 
is not considered to result in any significant additional harm to the amenity of nearby 
residents. 

 
4. Permitted Development 
 
4.1 The submitted supporting statement argues that the fence could be erected under current 

Permitted Development rights and incorrectly refers to a 2 metre high fence adjacent to the 
highway falling within these allowances. 

 
4.2 Part 2, Class A1(a) of the 2015 GPDO (Minor Operations), only allows fences up to 1 metre in 

height adjacent to a highway, extending up to 2 metres high only where it relates to a school. 
In defining a highway, Part 1 of the GPDO explains that this includes “an unadopted street or 
a private way”, and this is reflected in the Government’s published 2018 Householder 

Page 27



 

Technical Guidance. Whilst no such highway definition is set out in relation to works under 
Part 2 of the GPDO, it is understood that case law has defined a highway as anywhere where 
people can pass and re-pass.   

 
4.3 Notwithstanding the points above, the fencing is set-back from the private road by over 2 

metres and it could therefore be argued in any case that the fence is not ‘adjacent’ to a 
highway, thus enabling a fence up to 2 metres high to be erected under Part 2, Class A1(b) of 
the GPDO. 

 
4.4 Comments made by the Parish Council regarding the height of the fence are noted. The 

officer’s site visit confirms the fence is 2 metres high, thus falling within current permitted 
development allowances referred to above. 
 

5. Other Issues 
 
5.1 Objectors’ comments regarding the presence of other structures on the application site which 

do not benefit from planning permission are noted, but these fall outside the scope of this 
current planning application and cannot therefore be considered at this time. 

 
5.2 Reference to non-compliance with planning conditions is also noted, and as explained above, 

this planning application is limited to the removal of condition 2 of 10/00472/FUL. This has 
been assessed above. 

 
5.3 Regarding protruding metal on the fence, whilst this was not apparent during the officer’s site 

visit, it is not a material planning consideration and is a private matter in any case. 
 
5.4 Further to comments that approving this application would set a precedent, and that previous 

objections made by the Parish Council are still relevant, it should be noted that each 
application must be judged on its own merits.   

 
5.5 In summary, there are no other material planning grounds which are considered would 

warrant a refusal in this instance. 
 
6. Human Rights 
 
6.1 The proposals set out in the report are considered to be compatible with the Human Rights 

Act 1998. The proposals may interfere with neighbours’ rights under Article 8 of Schedule 1 to 
the Human Rights Act, which provides that everyone has the right to respect for their private 
and family life, home and correspondence. Interference with this right can only be justified if 
it is in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic society. The potential 
interference here has been fully considered within the report and on balance is justified and 
proportionate in relation to the provisions of the policies of the Development Plan and 
National Policy in the NPPF.   

 
Conclusion 
 
Given the fall-back position of ‘permitted development’ set out above, when combined with the 
overall acceptability of the proposal and passage of time since the fence was originally erected, it is 
considered that there are no sustainable planning grounds to refuse this application.  It is therefore 
considered that any appeal against refusal would unlikely be successful. 
 
This application to remove condition No.2 of 10/00472/FUL is therefore recommended for approval 
subject to conditions, as set out above. 
 

Page 28



 

 

Report to Planning Committee 
 

1 July 2019 
 

Agenda Item No.5                                            
 

Contact Officer: Mike Brown 
 

Telephone: 01543 308180 
 
 

 

Report of the Director of Place and Community 
 

ISSUES PAPER – PLANNING APPLICATION REF. 19/00753/OUTMEI 
 
Outline planning application for the creation of development platform and the demolition of 
existing office building and environmental centre, site clearance, remediation and mixed-use 
development comprising: Up to 2,300 new dwellings (Use Class C3), Up to 1.2 ha of mixed-use (Use 
Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, C1, C2, C3, D1 and D2), up to 5 Ha of employment (Use Classes B1, B2, 
B8), 1no. 2 form entry primary school (Use Class D1), formal and informal publicly accessible open 
space, ground mounted solar panels and key infrastructure including new adoptable roads within 
the site and the provision of a new primary access junction on to the A513 and associated works. 
(All matters reserved except access). 
 
LOCATION: Rugeley Power Station, Armitage Road, Armitage, Rugeley 
 
 

1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To inform Members that an outline planning application (ref: 19/00753/OUTMEI) has been 
received for the creation of development platform and the demolition of existing office building and 
environmental centre, site clearance, remediation and mixed-use development comprising: Up to 
2,300 new dwellings (Use Class C3), Up to 1.2 ha of mixed-use (Use Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, C1, 
C2, C3, D1 and D2), up to 5 Ha of employment (Use Classes B1, B2, B8), 1no. 2 form entry primary 
school (Use Class D1), formal and informal publicly accessible open space, ground mounted solar 
panels and key infrastructure including new adoptable roads within the site and the provision of a 
new primary access junction on to the A513 and associated works. (All matters reserved except 
access). 
 
1.2 The purposes of this ‘Issues Paper’ is to highlight to members the fact that a strategic major 
application has been recently submitted to the Council and explain the process in terms of 
consultation and publicity.  In addition, the paper will highlight the key planning issues, which will 
need to be considered when the full report comes before the Committee for their determination. 
This will allow an opportunity for Members to raise key planning issues that either they wish to be 
expanded upon or added to in the full report at the decision making stage.  This report is therefore a 
precursor to the main report, which will be presented at the end of the planning application process 
- it is not a report for debate or decision making, but rather an opportunity to raise issues. 
 

2. Site and Location 

 
2.1 The application site, known as the former Rugeley B Power Station, extends to 139 hectares 
(ha) of which 55ha is located within the boundaries of Cannock Chase District Council and 84ha 
within Lichfield District Council. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
2.2 The site is located approximately 2km to the east of Rugeley Town Centre and approximately 
1.6km west from the centre of Armitage with Handsacre.  The site is bound by the River Trent to the 
north, beyond which lie agricultural fields, the A513 to the south, along with both the Hawkesyard 
housing estate and various large scale, predominantly storage and distribution buildings, within the 
Towers Business Park and the A51 to the south west.   
 
2.3 The site is located within two Parishes, Brereton and Ravenhill in the west and Armitage with 
Handsacre in the east.  The parishes of Colton, Mavesyn Ridware and Rugeley border the site. 
 
2.4 The site was until 2016 used as a coal fired power station, producing electricity for 
transmission to the National Grid.  Much of the physical infrastructure associated with this former 
use of the site remains; which is largely located within the north western portion of the site, 
including 4 cooling towers, a chimney stack, plant buildings, electricity substations and 
interconnecting access tracks. To the centre of the site two electricity substations remain.  The 
400kv National Grid substation comprises an open air grid of frames, up to 20m in height and 
transformers, enclosed by a wire fence.  The 132kv Western Power Distribution substation is located 
adjacent.  Demolition of much of this infrastructure (excluding the substations) is currently being 
undertaken following the granting of consent for such. 
 
2.5 To the centre of the site, there is a concentration of green open space, associated with 
facilities previously provided by the Sports and Social Club, which includes, a clubhouse, a model 
railway, football pitch, cricket pitch, bowling green, 2 tennis courts and part of the former 18 hole 
golf course, which extends northwards to form the boundary of the site.   
 
2.6 To the south east of the site there are a series of ash lagoons and the Borrow Pit Lake, which 
is surrounded by mature trees and shrubs, along with a number of allotments.  A freight railway line, 
previously used to transport coal into the site, intersects the site from south east to northwest.  The 
West Coast Main Line railway runs to the north of the site. 
 
2.7 Throughout the site there a large number of predominantly self-seeded trees, forming linear 
belts, sited generally around engineered embankments, which were formed as part of the former 
power station activities.  Further structured tree and landscape planting is provided within and to 
the edge of the former sports and social club and associated golf course area.  A Tree Preservation 
Order area covers these trees along with those located on the site of the former ‘A Station’, now 
developed through the Hawkesyard housing estate.   
 
2.8 Part of the site (land around the 400kv substation and existing vehicular access off the A51) 
is included within the limits of the High Speed Rail (West Midlands to Crewe) Bill 2017 (the HS2 
Phase 2a Bill) and therefore is land subject to powers of compulsory acquisition for the purposes of 
providing a power connection from the substation to the rail line.  The site therefore falls within the 
HS2 Phase 2a safeguarding area, pursuant to the High Speed Two Phase 2a West Midlands to Crewe 
Safeguarding Directions, September 2017.  HS2 now have an alternative preferred location for a 
power connection and deposited Additional Provision 2 before Parliament in February 2019, which 
seeks to remove the site from the Bill.  However, until Royal Assent is granted for Phase 2a in its 
amended form, the site remains subject to the Safeguarding Directions.  
 
2.9 The Cannock Chase Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), Cannock Chase Special Area 
of Conservation (SAC) and Stafford Brook Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) lie approximately 
8km to the west of the site.  Slightly further afield is the Pasturefields Salt Marsh SAC and SSSI, 
located approximately 8km to the north west and the West Midlands Mosses SAC and SSSI located 
approximately 10km to the north. Other SSSI’s in proximity to the site include Blithfield Reservoir, 
located 4.5km north, which is nationally important for goosander Mergus Merganser, and 
Gentleshaw Common, located 4.9km south, which is of interest due to the lowland heathland 
vegetation across this area, and the biodiversity niches it supports. 
 

Page 30



 

 

2.10 There are no built heritage assets within the application site, but there are several scattered 
across the surrounding rural landscape, to the east of the site, including the Trent and Mersey Canal 
Conservation Area, the Grade II listed viaduct over the this canal, the Grade II* listed Church of St 
John and the Grade II listed Spode House and Hawkesyard Priory.  
 

3. Summary of Proposals 

 
3.1 The application was registered on 7th June 2019.  Appendix 1 describes the site and 
proposals in more detail.  In summary, the application seeks outline planning permission for the 
creation of development platform and the demolition of existing office building and environmental 
centre, site clearance, remediation and mixed-use development comprising up to 2,300 new 
dwellings (Use Class C3), Up to 1.2 ha of mixed-use (Use Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, C1, C2, C3, D1 
and D2), up to 5 Ha of employment (Use Classes B1, B2, B8), 1no. 2 form entry primary school (Use 
Class D1), formal and informal publicly accessible open space, ground mounted solar panels and key 
infrastructure including new adoptable roads within the site and the provision of a new primary 
access junction on to the A513 and associated works. (All matters reserved except access). 
 
3.2 As advised above, the site falls across the administrative boundaries of both Cannock Chase 
District Council and Lichfield District Council.  A collaborative approach to the consideration and 
determination of this application began at the pre-application discussion stage and will continue 
through to determination and beyond.   
 
3.3 As required under the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017, a Scoping Opinion was undertaken, prior to the submission of this application, 
which determined what was to be contained within the submitted Environmental Statement (ES).  
The ES, which accompanies the application, contains reports specific to socio-economics, air quality, 
built heritage, ecology, water environment, noise and vibration, ground conditions, landscape and 
visual impact and transport and access. 

 
3.4 The application, in addition to the ES, is supported by an Affordable Housing Statement, 
Commercial Report, Design and Access Statement, Landscape Design Statement, Mineral Resource 
Assessment, Planning Statement, Draft Heads of Terms, Waterwork Framework Directive 
Assessment, Shadow Habitats Regulation Assessment, Statement of Community Involvement and 
Transport Assessment. 
 
3.5 A copy of the parameters plan and Environmental Statement for the proposal will be 
available for viewing in the lobby area to the Council Chamber from 5.30pm onwards on the evening 
of the Committee on the 1 July 2019.  In addition, the plans and all associated documents are 
available on the Council’s website by visiting the planning application search page at 
www.lichfielddc.gov.uk (viewed by entering the application number). 
 
3.6 Members are invited to raise issues in relation to the current application, which they may 
feel require further clarification or detail when the application is reported to you in full for 
determination. 
 
3.6 Members are also invited to discuss the application further with either Mike Brown 
(Planning Case Officer) or Claire Billings (Planning Development Manager) outside of the Committee 
meeting, if there are specific issues of detail on which you require further clarification. 
 

4. Consultation and Process 

 
4.1 The applicant has undertaken a pre-application public consultation exercise.  A summary of 
this is provided below: 
 

Page 31



 

 

 Launch of the Community Planning Weekend including a background exhibition and 
presentation outlining the community engagement process (20 November 2018); 

 Pre-application meetings with Cannock Chase District Council and Lichfield District Council, 
Staffordshire County Council (December 2018 onwards); 

 Engagement with local MPs, CEOs, Ward Members and Town and Parish Councillors 
(December 2018 onwards); 

 Informal discussions and workshops with the local community including a workshop at St 
Joseph’s Primary School, The Hart School and Mansefield House Lunch Club (November 
2018); 

 Community advertising through distribution of flyers, letters and emails, as well as press 
advertisements and media releases (November 2018 onwards); 

 Website to publicise events, give information and enable download of documents, 
exhibitions and presentations (November 2018 onwards); 

 Email address made available for people to submit comments and ask questions (November 
2018 onwards); 

 Held a Community Planning Weekend (CPW) between 30 November and 4 December 2018, 
including presentations, exhibitions, walkabouts, dialogue workshops and hands-on planning 
design groups to consider the issues and create a vision and consensus masterplan for the 
Power Station site. The CPW team summarised the outcomes of the workshops and 
discussions and drew up an illustrative vision which was presented back to the community at 
a Report Back event on 4 December 2018; 

 Broadsheet produced summarising the outcomes of the Community Planning Weekend 
including illustrative masterplan (December 2018); 

 Reported the CPW outcomes to local parish councils and students at St Joseph’s Primary 
School and The Hart School (January 2019);  

 Held two community forums including background exhibitions on 30 January and 20 March 
2019 to present updates on the emerging proposals and to develop design ideas; 

 Held a series of update exhibitions which took place on 20, 22 and 23 March 2019 to review 
the masterplan;  

 Newsletter produced summarising the emerging proposals including updated illustrative 
masterplan (March 2019); 

 Comment forms were provided at each event for people to complete in person or return via 
post or email when convenient; and  

 A post-submission exhibition is planned for the early phase of the statutory consultation 
process. 

 
4.2 Following receipt of the planning application, the Council, as Local Planning Authority, has 
undertaken extensive consultation, including with statutory and non-statutory consultees.  This 
consultation has included both Parish Councils within which the site is located and those that 
neighbour the site, within both Lichfield and Cannock Chase Districts.  A notice was published in the 
local press on the 20 June 2019 and 4 site notices have also been displayed adjacent to the site.  In 
addition, approximately 750 individual notification letters, have been sent to properties in the 
vicinity of the site. Cannock Chase Council have also carried out a consultation exercise in respect of 
the application submitted to them, consulting amongst others, Rugeley Town Council, Brereton and 
Ravenhill, Brindley Heath Parish Council and Armitage and Handscare Parish Council. 
 

5. Recommendation 

 
5.1 The Planning Committee are recommended to note the item for information and raise any 
relevant planning issues on which they require further clarification and which are requested to be 
addressed in the subsequent report to Planning Committee when this application is formally 
considered. 

Page 32



 

 

APPENDIX 1 
 
SUMMARY OF SITE AND PROPOSALS 
 
Site and Location 
 
The application site, known as the former Rugeley B Power Station, extends to 139 hectares (ha) of 
which 55ha is located within the boundaries of Cannock Chase District Council and 84ha within 
Lichfield District Council. 
 
The site is located approximately 2km to the east of Rugeley Town Centre and approximately 1.6km 
west from the centre of Armitage with Handsacre.  The site is bound by the River Trent to the north, 
beyond which lie agricultural fields, the A513 to the south, along with both the Hawkesyard housing 
estate and various large scale, predominantly storage and distribution buildings, within the Towers 
Business Park and the A51 to the south west.   
 
Proposals 

 
The application is submitted in outline, with all matters except access reserved.  The two vehicular 
access points, proposed to serve the site, are located to the southern and north eastern edges of the 
site.  The location of the southern access point, off Armitage Road, has previously been agreed 
under the provisions of planning application 17/00453/FULM, which includes the installation of a 
roundabout.  The northern access point will be via the existing vehicular access off the A51.  Two 
further pedestrian access points are identified on the illustrative masterplan, one to the north of the 
site over the A51 and another to the western boundary onto the A513.  
 
Briefly the scheme proposes:  
 

 Site clearance, including some demolition; 

 Site remediation activities and creation of development platform (likely to comprise removal 
of subsurface structures, where not undertaken as part of the consented demolition works 
and contamination sources); 

 Up to 2,300 dwellings comprising a mix of market and affordable housing (Use Class C3) at 
an average density of approximately 45 dwellings per hectare.  The maximum building 
height to be 4 storeys; 

 Up to 5 ha of employment land (Use Classes B1, B2, B8); 

 Up to 3.2 ha of ground mounted solar panels; 

 Up to 1.2 ha of mixed-use development (Use Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, C1, C2, C3, D1 and 
D2); 

 A 2.9ha, 2 form entry primary school; 

 Formation a pedestrian and cycle routes, including a principle green route along the location 
of the current railway sidings; 

 Open Space (including a 26ha riverside park), formal areas of play, and associated facilities 
and amenity space, including, landscaping, green infrastructure and sustainable drainage 
systems; and 

 Retention of the existing 400kV and 132kV electricity substations. 
 
The exact details of housing mix, affordable housing levels, nature and scale of the commercial 
buildings, including mixed use centre, and renewable energy provision are proposed to be 
determined at reserved matters stage.  The indicative location of the developable areas are shown 
on the submitted illustrative masterplan.   
 
Summary of Key Issues to be considered in the determination of the application: 
 

Page 33



 

 

 Policy and Principle of Development (including considering which Council’s policies to apply 
and conformity with the Armitage with Handsacre Neighbourhood Plan); 

 Housing Numbers and Mix; 

 Affordable Housing; 

 Employment land proposals;  

 Commercial Sequential Impact; 

 Highways Issues, including accesses, car parking provision, transport routes, sustainable 
transport provision and impact on the surrounding highway network including Strategic 
Network;  

 Noise and Air Pollution Issues; 

 Impact on Amenity of Existing and Future Occupiers; 

 Impact on existing landscape features (including protected trees) and new landscape and 
planting; 

 Impact on the wider landscape setting;  

 Impact upon Heritage Assets including archaeology; 

 Impact of Retained Electricity Substation Infrastructure; 

 Education Provision; 

 Loss and Provision of Sports Facilities; 

 Public Open Space; 

 Refuse Collection; 

 Urban Design and Wayfinding; 

 Pedestrian and Cycle Connectivity; 

 Flood Risk and Drainage; 

 Contaminated Land 

 Sustainable Energy Production; 

 HS2; 

 Waste Management; 

 Protected Species, Ecological and Biodiversity Impacts; 

 Impact on the Cannock Chase and other nearby SACs; and 

 Planning Obligations (including potential viability considerations). 
 
Members are invited to comment on the detail of any of the above issues and to identify any matters, 
which they consider have not been highlighted at this stage. 
 
 

 

Page 34



Page 35

wrighgr
Rectangle



Page 36


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Planning Applications
	19.00550.FUL Little Aston Park Gates FINAL.pdf
	RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
	LETTERS OF REPRESENTATION
	Conclusion


	Word Bookmarks
	OLE_LINK1


	19.00584.FUL Hawkesyard Fence FINAL.pdf
	RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
	LETTERS OF REPRESENTATION
	Conclusion


	Word Bookmarks
	OLE_LINK1



	5 Issues Paper - Application ref 19/00753/OUTMEI - Rugeley Power Station, Armitage Road, Armitage, Rugeley
	Report to Planning Committee
	Agenda Item No.5
	SUMMARY OF SITE AND PROPOSALS
	Proposals





